NOVEL LIPID MODIFICATIONS OF SECRETED PROTEIN SIGNALS

Randall K. Mann and Philip A. Beachy

Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics and Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland 21205; e-mail: rkmann@jhmi.edu, pbeachy@jhmi.edu

Key Words Hedgehog proteins, cholesterol, autoproteolysis, Wnt proteins, protein acylation

■ Abstract Secreted signaling proteins function in a diverse array of essential patterning events during metazoan development, ranging from embryonic segmentation in insects to neural tube differentiation in vertebrates. These proteins generally are expressed in a localized manner, and they may elicit distinct concentrationdependent responses in the cells of surrounding tissues and structures, thus functioning as morphogens that specify the pattern of cellular responses by their tissue distribution. Given the importance of signal distribution, it is notable that the Hedgehog (Hh) and Wnt proteins, two of the most important families of such signals, are known to be covalently modified by lipid moieties, the membrane-anchoring properties of which are not consistent with passive models of protein mobilization within tissues. This review focuses on the mechanisms underlying biogenesis of the mature Hh proteins, which are dually modified by cholesteryl and palmitoyl adducts, as well as on the relationship between Hh proteins and the self-splicing proteins (i.e., proteins containing inteins) and the Hh-like proteins of nematodes. We further discuss the cellular mechanisms that have evolved to handle lipidated Hh proteins in the spatial deployment of the signal in developing tissues and the more recent findings that implicate palmitate modification as an important feature of Wnt signaling proteins.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
BIOGENESIS OF HEDGEHOG SIGNALING PROTEINS
Autocatalytic Processing and Cholesterol Modification of Hedgehog Proteins 893
Evidence for Additional Cholesterol-Modified Proteins
Thioesters as Intermediates in Protein Modification
Ester Intermediates in Proteins Containing the Hint Domain
Amino-Terminal Acylation of Hedgehog Signaling Proteins
Mechanism and Specificity of Hedgehog Palmitoylation
Functional Consequences of Palmitoylation

LIPID MODIFICATION IN THE WNT SIGNALING PATHWAY	911
HEDGEHOG TISSUE DISTRIBUTION	912
The Role of Processing and Cholesterol Modification in Hedgehog Tissue Distri-	
bution	912
The Contrasting Roles of Dispatched and Patched in Tissue Distribution of the Hh	
Signal	912
The Role of Tout velu in Hedgehog Tissue Distribution	918
PERSPECTIVE ON THE FUNCTION OF CHOLESTEROL MODIFICATION	919

INTRODUCTION

Pattern formation during embryonic development is directed by several families of secreted protein signals. Whereas some of these signals are limited to local action at emerging tissue interfaces, others exert their influence over a range of distances. The patterning effects of these signaling proteins result from their action as morphogens, that is, by eliciting concentration-dependent responses in cells surrounding a localized site of signal production and release. The patterns of cell proliferation and differentiation resulting from the action of such a morphogen depend critically upon the response of target cells within a tissue and, of course, upon the tissue distribution of the active signal itself. We focus on lipid modification as a factor that critically influences the distribution and activity of Hedgehog (Hh) and Wnt signaling proteins, which act as morphogens in specifying the patterns of proliferation and differentiation in many tissues and structures during embryogenesis.

First discovered in *Drosophila*, the Hh family of secreted signaling proteins has been studied in a wide array of metazoan organisms. The cellular machinery that generates, distributes, transduces, and ultimately implements a cellular response to Hh signals is deployed repeatedly throughout development, and this pathway directly or indirectly influences the development of many tissue and organ systems in vertebrates [for recent reviews, see (1, 2)]. Wnt proteins similarly act in the embryonic patterning of many tissues and structures [see (3-5)]. More recently, the Hh and Wnt signaling pathways are emerging as playing homeostatic roles in the maintenance of postembryonic tissues. Such roles include stem cell maintenance in particular tissues (6–10) and possible participation in tissue repair in response to injury (11). Finally, both the Hh and Wnt pathways have emerged as playing an important role in a growing number of types of cancer (11–13) in which a general feature is unregulated activation of these pathways [see (14–16)].

The normal and abnormal function of these pathways is associated with diverse biological phenomena of considerable importance and interest. Our discussion, however, will focus on the distribution and activity of these signaling proteins, which are critical determinants of their biological effects, and in particular on the mechanisms by which these proteins are lipid modified and how these modifications impact their biological function. Well-known mechanisms that influence the distribution and activity of extracellular protein signals include interactions with the cell matrix (e.g., FGF) (17), release in latent form (e.g., TGF β) (18), or interaction with secreted inhibitors (e.g., Wnts and BMPs) (19, 20). The lipid modifications undergone by Hh proteins generally are considered to be membrane anchoring, raising the question as to how signaling responses in distant cells are elicited. We discuss the following:

- the biochemical mechanisms of these modifications, which include autoprocessing and cholesterol modification of the Hh signal, and further acylation of the Hh protein;
- the more recent finding of Wnt protein acylation, which may occur by a mechanism related to that of Hh protein acylation;
- the relationship between Hh and self-splicing proteins, a well-studied class of autoprocessing proteins, as well as the Hh-like proteins of nematodes; and
- finally, the dual lipid modification of Hh proteins in the context of lipid cell biology and metabolism and, largely in the context of *Drosophila* development, how these hydrophobic modifications target Hh protein to a multicomponent system for distribution of the signaling activity in its appropriate pattern within tissues.

BIOGENESIS OF HEDGEHOG SIGNALING PROTEINS

Newly synthesized Hh proteins undergo a series of posttranslational processing reactions within the secretory pathway that result in the formation and cell surface presentation of the species active in signaling. Although elements of the reaction mechanisms employed are also represented in the metabolism of other proteins, Hedgehog family members are the only examples of signaling proteins known to be covalently modified by cholesterol. In this section, we describe the biogenesis of the Hedgehog signal as compared to that of other autoprocessed proteins. In addition, we review the biochemistry and function of Hedgehog palmitoylation.

Autocatalytic Processing and Cholesterol Modification of Hedgehog Proteins

Whereas many features of Hh autoprocessing [reviewed in (21)] were elucidated from studies of the *Drosophila* protein, the biochemical and functional mechanisms likely apply to Hh proteins from all species. Following cleavage of an amino-terminal signal sequence upon entry into the secretory pathway, the Hh protein undergoes an autocatalytic processing reaction that involves internal cleavage between Gly-Cys residues that form part of an absolutely conserved Gly-Cys-Phe tripeptide (Figure 1A) (22, 23). The amino-terminal product of this



cleavage receives a covalent cholesteryl adduct (24) and is the species active in signaling (23, 25–31) (see Figure 1*A*). Constructs encoding Hh proteins truncated at the normal site of internal cleavage produce proteins that can have signaling activity, but studies in *Drosophila* have demonstrated that such proteins are not appropriately restricted spatially and therefore cause gross mispatterning and lethality in embryos (32). The cholesteryl moiety not only restricts spatial deployment of the mature signal via insertion into the lipid bilayer of the cell membrane, thus influencing the pattern of cellular responses in developing tissues, but it may also function as an essential molecular handle for proper intracellular and extracellular trafficking and localization of the signal (see below). The autoprocessing reaction thus is required not only to release the active signal from precursor but also to specify the properties of this signal within cells and tissues.

The autoprocessing reaction is mediated by the carboxy-terminal domain of the Hh precursor, which has no known additional function. This reaction proceeds by two sequential nucleophilic displacements (Figure 1B): The first of which is a rearrangement to replace the main chain peptide linkage between Gly-Cys with a thioester involving the Cys side chain (24, 32). The second step of the Hh autoprocessing reaction involves attack upon the same carbonyl by a second nucleophile, displacing the sulfur and severing the link between Hh-N and Hh-C. The requirement for a second nucleophile in vitro can be met by a high concentration either of a thiol-containing molecule or of another small molecule with nucleophilic properties at neutral pH; these small nucleophiles can be shown to form covalent adducts to the amino-terminal product of the in vitro cleavage reaction (32). This second nucleophile can be provided by the thiol of a cysteine-initiated peptide, leading to a thioester linkage that undergoes further rearrangement via an S-to-N shift to form an amide (32). This reaction represents a variation on the theme of synthetic thioesters used for chemical ligation of peptides (33). Related protein ligation strategies are now used for synthesis of proteins containing specific modified or unnatural amino acids [see (34)].

The importance of autocatalytic processing in biogenesis of active Hh proteins is highlighted by the types of missense mutations that occur in the *Drosophila hh* gene (23). One class of mutations affects amino-terminal coding sequences without affecting the ability of the protein to undergo processing, and these

Figure 1 Processing of Hedgehog proteins. (A) Hedgehog genes encode precursor polypeptides of \sim 45 kDa that undergo both N-terminal signal sequence trimming and acylation as well as internal proteolysis at a conserved sequence. Endoproteolytic cleavage at the GCF sequence is catalyzed by the processing activity associated with the C-terminal domain and produces an \sim 19 kDa segment with which all known signaling activities are associated. During cleavage, the signaling domain is modified at its carboxy-terminal glycine by cholesterol; the N-terminal cysteine also becomes palmitoylated (see text for details). (B) Mechanism of Hedgehog endoproteolysis (see text for details).

alterations affect either the secretion or the activity of the signaling domain. A second class of mutations comprises alterations of the carboxy-terminal domain without changing amino-terminal sequences, and these alterations can be shown to affect processing, thus demonstrating the requirement for processing in release of the active signal. Missense mutations in the human *Shh* gene associated with holoprosencephaly (see below) also can be classified in this manner, with alterations either in the amino-terminal signaling domain or the carboxy-terminal processing domain (35, 36).

Whereas cholesterol is a prominent constituent of animal cell membranes (as much as 30% of the plasma membrane lipid content in some tissues) and was identified as the modifying lipid in cell-derived Hh-Np (24), other steroidal compounds can substitute for cholesterol in Hh processing reactions performed in vitro (37). Among the compounds tested (see Figure 2), structural variables included the orientation and availability of the 3β hydroxyl, additional specific hydroxylations, the olefin of the cholestene backbone motif, as well as presence and structure of the isooctyl side chain. In this semiquantitative analysis, it is clear that the most important structural feature is the C3 hydroxyl moiety. Not only must the group be free of esterified adducts (no activity with cholesteryl acetate), but there is an absolute requirement for the β orientation of the alcohol (no activity with epicholesterol). Whereas the side chain of these sterols is not essential for activity (see 5-androsten-3 β -ol), hydroxylations within the chain can decrease a compound's effectiveness (20-, 22-, 25-hydroxycholesterol). Hydroxylations at other positions within the ring can have no deleterious effect $(7\beta-hydroxycholesterol)$ or can reduce activity (19-hydroxycholesterol). Finally, changing the cholestene to either a cholestan (coprostan-3-ol) or an ergostatrien (ergosterol) resulted in decreased activity, but this indicates that the olefin at C5 of the backbone is not essential and that conjugation does not prevent the esterification reaction.

The availability of alternative sterols, supplied nutritionally or biosynthetically, and the lack of stringent selectivity of the *Drosophila* Hh processing domain raise the possibility that hedgehog signaling proteins may be modified in vivo, not only by cholesterol, but by other endogenous steroidal nucleophiles. Although this remains to be demonstrated experimentally, it is worth noting that among Hh orthologs there is considerable sequence diversity within the subdomain that in *Drosophila* is known to be required for mediating cholesterol addition (see below).

Evidence for Additional Cholesterol-Modified Proteins

In animal cells, the processed form of overexpressed Sonic hedgehog signaling protein can be detected readily in simple metabolic labeling experiments using radioactive cholesterol (24). In addition to the strong signal due to incorporation within Shh-Np, however, several additional proteins can be detected. Although these proteins and the nature of the chemical linkage remain uncharacterized, this observation suggests that cholesterol modification of polypeptides, perhaps by



Figure 2 Sterol selectivity in the Hedgehog processing domain. Using a semiquantitative in vitro processing assay (37), the depicted sterols were tested for their ability to substitute for cholesterol in the processing domain-mediated transfer reaction. Full activity (++) is observed for compounds that most closely resemble cholesterol, with 5-androstene-3 β -ol perhaps representing the minimum structural requirement for a fully active substrate. Various structural changes (see text) allow for partial activity (+), whereas esterification or inversion (to the α orientation) of the 3 β hydroxyl completely block participation (-).

esterification, is not unique to the Hh proteins, and it may also be a employed as a means of directing other proteins to membranes or other hydrophobic targets. Alternatively, cholesterol labeling of these proteins could be caused by capture of oxidized sterol intermediates, as suggested for aldehyde dehydrogenase class 1 in bovine lens epithelial cells (38).

Thioesters as Intermediates in Protein Modification

The use of a Cys-derived thioester as an intermediate is a theme common to several other acyl transfers that result in covalent modifications of proteins [reviewed by (39) and (40)]. Following formation of the initial thioester in these systems, the acyl portion of the thioester (the acceptor, corresponding to Hh-N) can receive the final modification directly or alternatively may be transferred to other thiols in one or more subsequent steps before receiving the final modification. The ubiquitin cascade represents such a reaction with multiple intermediates, whose role is to attach ubiquitin to proteins destined for degradation by the proteasome (41). The acyl group for these thioesters is supplied by the carboxy-terminal Gly of ubiquitin, and the thiols come from Cys side chains in three distinct classes of enzymes. The first of these, E1, forms the initial thioester in an ATP-consuming reaction. Then, through transthioesterification reactions, the ubiquitin forms thioesters sequentially with E2 and E3 enzymes before final transfer to the ϵ amine of a Lys side chain. The protein receiving ubiquitin in the resulting amide linkage is thus marked for degradation.

The α 2-macroglobulin proteinase inhibitors and the C3, C4, and C5 complement proteins represent members of an ancient superfamily that use an intrachain thioester as a "spring loaded" functionality, which can be triggered for covalent attachment to target molecules (42). The intrachain thioester is formed by thiol attack of a Cys side chain on the amido group of a Gln side chain. The final adducts in the case of the complement proteins are nucleophiles on the surface of cells to be targeted for lysis. In the α 2-macroglobulin case, the final adduct is a nucleophile on a protease to be inactivated, which is targeted to α 2-macroglobulin through the presence of multiple cleavage sites for proteases of various specificities.

In the examples just discussed, the acyl group contributing to the thioester intermediate derives either from another protein or from an amino acid side chain. In contrast, the acyl group in the Hh thioester intermediate is linked to a main chain carbonyl, and the thioester therefore replaces an amide bond within the peptide backbone. Other proteins likely to utilize main chain ester or thioester intermediates in autoprocessing reactions include prohistidine decarboxylase (43) and members of the Ntn hydrolase family that are processed by an intramolecular mechanism (44, 45). The Ntn (N-terminal nucleophile) family hydrolases, which include proteases active in the proteasome, are autoprocessed with internal cleavage, leaving the active site nucleophile as the amino-terminal residue. The role of these reactions appears to be activation of a precursor protein and takes place without net addition of a modifying adduct. There is no evidence of any evolutionary relationship between Hh autoprocessing domains and either prohistidine decarboxylase or Ntn hydrolase proteins.

Ester Intermediates in Proteins Containing the Hint Domain

Two other groups of proteins that are evolutionarily related to Hh proteins are the self-splicing proteins and a group of novel nematode proteins containing Hh-Clike sequences. The self-splicing proteins undergo a reaction in which an internal portion of the protein, termed an intein, is excised and amino- and carboxyterminal flanking regions, termed exteins, are ligated to form the mature protein (46, 47). Interins are found inserted into a wide variety of archaeal, bacterial, chloroplast, and yeast proteins. The intein portion mediates the protein splicing reaction and typically also contains an endonuclease thought to act at the DNA level in mediating movement of intein coding sequences. Similar to Hh autoprocessing, the protein splicing reaction is initiated by intramolecular attack of a hydroxyl or thiol upon the preceding carbonyl, and the resulting ester or thioester intermediate replaces the peptide bond at the amino-terminal extein/intein boundary (48) (Figure 3). Unlike Hh proteins, the second nucleophilic attack in the protein self-splicing reaction involves the side chain of another Ser or Cys residue several hundred residues downstream. The resulting branched protein intermediate ultimately resolves into the ligated externs and the free interin protein (Figure 3).

Nematode proteins with Hh-C-like sequences were identified by searching for homology within the Caenorhabditis elegans genomic sequence database. Within this genome, the sequencing of which is now complete (49), 10 putative proteins with homology to the Hh-C autoprocessing domain have been identified (32, 50–52; R. Mann, X. Wang, and P.A. Beachy, unpublished data). As in the Hh family, the Hh-C-like domains, with one exception, are located at the carboxy termini of these proteins and are preceded by an amino-terminal domain bearing a signal sequence. These nematode proteins resemble each other more than they do any other database sequence and can be grouped into three families based on their amino-terminal sequences: Wart, Ground, and a third family identified by the trivial name of its single member, M110. The structures of these proteins suggest the possibility that they are secreted and undergo autoprocessing; a preliminary study of one family member in Drosophila cultured cells indeed demonstrates cleavage at the junction between amino- and carboxy-terminal domains (24). Whereas there is no obvious similarity between the amino-terminal domains of the nematode and Hedgehog protein families, a short, shared sequence motif has been noted (52) that, in the context of cysteine conservation at flanking sites nearby, suggests they may share a common ancestor. In the absence of known structural conservation, however, the proposed evolutionary homology must be considered provisional.

The level of amino acid sequence identity between the nematode and Hh processing domains ranges from 24% to 32% in a region approximately corre-



Figure 3 Mechanism of intein autoprocessing. The Hint domain-catalyzed N-to-S shift follows that of Hedgehog. However, the subsequent nucleophilic displacement is intramolecular, resulting in a branched polypeptide intermediate. This structure resolves into an excised intein sequence and a ligated amino- and carboxy-terminal segment [see (40, 46, 47) for recent reviews and reference to the intein database InBase].

sponding to the amino-terminal 2/3 of Hh-C. This same region of Hh-C also can be aligned with inteins, although the alignment is complicated by the presence of sequences corresponding to the endonuclease domain as well as a DNA recognition region domain that is thought to aid in DNA binding (51, 53, 54). The strongest evidence of a common evolutionary origin for these protein families is the presence of a domain with a common fold in the crystal structures of Hh-C and the 454 residue intein protein PI-SceI (Figure 4A) (51, 55). Remarkably, both the endonuclease (Endo) and DNA recognition region (DRR) domains are inserted into peripheral loops of the common domain with little apparent effect upon its three-dimensional fold. Structure-based alignment of Hh-C and PI-SceI intein sequences (Figure 4B; T. Hall and D. Leahy, personal communication), with intein endonuclease and DRR regions removed, reveals a low level of amino acid identity (15/94 residues aligned, \sim 16%), but the root-mean-square distance for C α positions is 1.401 Å, and most of the residues known to be essential for Hh-C processing activity are conserved. The crystallized Hh fragment contains the 151 amino-terminal residues of Hh-C of which the first 145 residues are well ordered in the crystal structure; these residues correspond to the region conserved in the nematode proteins (9 identities among various Hh and the Wart/Ground proteins and most other positions featuring similar residues) [see (52)]. This domain alone suffices for thioester formation, as indicated by the ability of a Hh protein truncated after this point to undergo cleavage in the presence of DTT (51; X. Wang, G. Seydoux, and P.A. Beachy, unpublished information), and this domain has been referred to as the Hint module (Hedgehog, intein).

Although the Hint module in Hh-C suffices for the first step of autoprocessing, at least some part of the 63 carboxy-terminal residues missing in the crystallized fragment is required for the second step of cholesterol addition (51). Because of its apparent role in sterol addition, this 63 residue region is referred to as SRR, for sterol recognition region. Whereas residue identities between Hh SRRs and corresponding sequences within the nematode family are limited, the use of a short Hint sequence "anchor," as well as a gap to accommodate sequence insertions, particularly within the Shh and Drosophila proteins, reveals a significant degree of sequence similarity, most notably in the spacing of hydrophobic clusters (see Figure 5). Because of their corresponding position with respect to the SRR of Hh, the sequences in these nematode proteins that extend carboxyterminal to the Hint domain are tentatively designated ARR, for adduct recognition region. Despite the above-mentioned similarities, the overall sequence diversity between the SRR of Hh proteins and the ARR regions of nematode gene family members raises the possibility that molecules other than cholesterol may participate in the processing reaction and form novel protein-modifying adducts.

From the structure of the Hint modules in Hh-C and the PI-SceI intein, and from sequence relationships between these proteins and the nematode proteins, a plausible evolutionary history can be constructed in which an ancestral Hint module evolved and gave rise to all three protein groups (see Figure 6). The evolution of the Hint module is revealed by pseudo twofold symmetry with



Figure 4 (*A*) Hint domain structures of Hh and an intein protein, PI-SceI. Crystal structures of both the Hedgehog processing domain (Hh-C₁₇) (51) as well as the PI-SceI autoprocessing protein (55) have been solved, and the Hint domain ribbon diagrams are presented for comparison. Structural similarities are easily detectable after removal of the DRR and endonuclease (Endo) domains of PI-SceI [see (51) for discussion of structural similarities as well as the interesting pseudo twofold axis of symmetry found in both structures]. (*B*) Structure-based alignment of Hint domain sequences from Hh and PI-SceI. The alignment of corresponding structures of the two Hint domains and their associated sequences allows a more accurate assessment of relatedness and reveals a greater degree of conservation. The analysis demonstrates that 94 amino acids are in matched positions, that $\sim 16\%$ of matched residues are identical, and that similar residues are found at most of the other positions. The root-mean-square distance for C α positions is 1.401 Å.

superimposable subdomains in the crystal structure of the Hh-C protein, which suggests that the ancestral Hint domain arose by gene duplication (see Figure 4A) [see (51)]. The duplicated subdomains are interlinked by extended loop-like secondary structure elements that mirror each other in associating primarily with the bulk of the other subdomain, suggesting that following duplication, these secondary structure elements exchanged interactions with their own subdomain for similar interactions with the other subdomain [a "loop swap"; see (56) and Figure 6]. Following establishment of the Hint module, the ancestral interin evolved in one branch by insertion of an endonuclease into a Hint domain and by adjustment (or preservation) of the chemistry to insure that the second nucleophilic attack is made intramolecularly by the side chain of a downstream residue. In a second branch, Hh proteins were formed by association of a Hint domain



ш





gaster, D.r., Danio rerio; F.r., Fugu rubripes; G.g., Gallus gallus; H.s., Homo sapiens; L.v., Lytechinus variegatus; M.m., Mus nusculus; N.V., Notophthalmus viridescens; R.n., Rattus norvegicus; and X.I., Xenopus laevis. Despite the lack of striking sequence proteins. See Aspock et al. (52) for alignments of entire processing domains of Hedgehog and nematode proteins. Abbreviations are Figure 5 Sequence comparison of Hedgehog SRRs and the ARRs of nematodes. Using several residues of conserved sequence as an alignment anchor, the extreme C-terminal sequences of Hedgehog and nematode processing domains (i.e., the SRR and ARR domains, respectively) were aligned using the ClustalX algorithm (137). Species represented are, alphabetically, B.f., Branchiostoma floridae (Amphioxus); C.e., Caenorhabditis elegans; C.p., Cynops pyrrhogaster; D.h., Drosophila hydei; D.m., Drosophila melanoconservation in corresponding segments from nematodes and the Hh proteins, some similarities, most notably the clustering and spacing of hydrophobic residues, are clear. This partial conservation, together with the ability of the *Drosophila* processing domain o utilize alternative steroidal compounds in the in vitro reaction, suggests that other sterols could be used in vivo to modify processed Shh, Sonic hedgehog; Ihh, Indian hedgehog; Dhh, Desert hedgehog; Grd, Ground; and Wrt, Wart. with the amino-terminal domains of the Hh and nematode proteins. The sequence of events leading to formation of these proteins is not known. One possibility is that the Hint and SRR modules may have been assembled into a cholesterol transfer unit prior to association with the Hh signaling domain; alternatively, the Hint module might have been inserted within a preassembled protein comprising a signaling domain and the SRR precursor. In the second scenario, the SRR precursor in the preassembled protein might have served some function related to sterol recognition, such as membrane association. Similarly, several scenarios are possible in assembly of the nematode proteins. The possibility also exists that additional proteins will be found in which the Hint module initiates novel splicing or transfer reactions.

Amino-Terminal Acylation of Hedgehog Signaling Proteins

A second lipophilic modification of the Hedgehog signaling protein was more recently found to occur on a large proportion of the amino-terminal signaling domain of human Sonic Hedgehog upon expression in either insect or mammalian cell lines (57). This additional modifying adduct is a fatty acid, usually palmitate, and is found in an amide linkage with the amino-terminal cysteine that is exposed by signal sequence cleavage (see Figure 1A). Because this Cys residue is the first of a pentapeptide, CGPGR, that is widely conserved among species, there is a possibility that these residues and others nearby may constitute an important determinant for the palmitoylation reaction. The fatty acylation is proposed to occur via a thioester intermediate involving the side chain of the amino-terminal cysteine, followed by a spontaneous rearrangement to form the amide. The efficiency and specificity of this modification appears to depend in part upon prior cholesterol modification because the level of acylation is reduced and the types of modifying fatty acids are varied when the Shh protein is produced from a truncated construct lacking the processing sequences. When Shh is expressed in cultured mammalian cells using a moderately active (nonviral) promoter, we have observed that the majority of Shh-Np is found in a doubly lipidated form (58; R.K. Mann and P.A. Beachy, unpublished information), providing additional evidence that this is the predominant form of the signaling molecule in vivo.

Whereas N-terminal palmitate is dispensable in some assays of Hh signaling activity, it is now clear, from both animal models and cultured cell-based in vitro assays, that this modification critically contributes to full signal potency. In the responsive chondrogenic cell line C3H10T1/2, recombinant versions of human Shh-N featuring fatty acyl adducts of intermediate chain length were found to be 40- to 160-fold more potent than the corresponding cysteine-initiated protein lacking an N-terminal adduct (59). Replacing the initiating cysteine with the structural cognate serine produces an even weaker signal (10-fold lower than unmodified) and removal of 5-10 N-terminal residues severely impairs signaling potency (>500-fold lower) (60). These results suggest the possibility that some degree of acylation can occur after addition of protein to target cells if the

cysteine target for acylation remains in place. Notably, it was also observed that replacing cysteine with hydrophobic residues alone conferred enhanced potency (up to eightfold greater than unmodified) (59). This result, combined with others involving a variety of nonfatty acyl N-terminal adducts indicates that the enhancement of signaling activity can be attributed to a general hydrophobic effect rather than exclusive specificity for palmitate or even long-chain fatty acids. It is also interesting that, at least in this assay system, the fatty acylated versions of recombinant Shh lacking C-terminal cholesterol modification feature potencies comparable to that of the doubly-lipidated Shh-Np (produced from the full-length gene in metazoan cell lines).

The importance of Hedgehog palmitoylation has also been demonstrated in several animal models of development wherein modification site mutants were found to have little or no activity in vivo. Lee et al. (61) found that a transgene encoding a serine substitution at the palmitoylation site in *Drosophila* Hedgehog not only nullified its ability to complement loss-of-function alleles responsible for embryonic and larval defects but also caused a dominant negative effect with wild-type endogenous Hedgehog. A separate study (62) employing ectopic expression in mouse as well as tissue explant assays confirmed the necessity of N-terminal acylation and demonstrated that mutation of the acylation site caused a loss of Shh signaling activity, consistent with cultured cell-based in vitro observations. Furthermore, a *Shh* mutant allele encoding a truncated protein results in reduced signaling and defective limb patterning upon expression within the developing limb (63). The precisely truncated Shh-N protein produced by this allele is not autoprocessed, consequently lacks cholesterol, and has reduced

Possible evolutionary history of inteins, Hh proteins, and nematode proteins. Figure 6 Schematic drawings, based on the crystal structure of the Hedgehog C-terminal autoprocessing domain (51), illustrate an ancestral structure that gave rise to the Hint domain proteins through gene duplication, domain swapping, and insertion events, which may have occurred during evolution. The proteins formed by ligation of the N and C extein domains of intein family proteins are of many types with diverse biological activity. The Hh proteins feature a conserved N-terminal signaling domain that is related to a bacterial cell wall enzyme [see (138)], whereas the N-terminal domains of the nematode proteins are novel and sort into three groups (52). Module assembly refers to evolutionary pathways wherein Hint sequences, either alone or carrying an appended domain (e.g., an endonuclease), are inserted into an existing protein. The sequence of depicted events should be considered speculative. Possible scenarios for the assembly include prior association of the SRR with the Hint module to form an independent cholesterol transfer entity. Alternatively, the Hedgehog signaling domain may have evolved with the hydrophobic SRR domain, between which the Hint domain was later inserted. See text and (51) for discussion. An evolutionary dendrogram relating the various Hedgehogs and nematode proteins, which are more closely related, is presented in Aspock et al. (52). Abbreviations are SRR, sterol recognition region; Hint, Hedgehog intein; and DRR, DNA recognition region.



amino-terminal acylation (see below); a reduction in signaling and patterning activity of this mutant is consistent with a requirement for palmitoylation in producing a fully potent Shh signal.

Mechanism and Specificity of Hedgehog Palmitoylation

Most of what is known about the mechanism, specificity, and function of protein S-acylation derives from the numerous and well-documented examples of this dynamic cytoplasmic phenomenon that targets many key intracellular and transmembrane signaling proteins [see (64) and (65) for excellent recent reviews; also see Smotrys and Linder in this volume]. Palmitoylation of Hh proteins, however, is distinctive in that it takes place within the secretory pathway, presumably isolated from the machinery that generates and regulates other S-acylated proteins, and it resolves into a stable amide linkage (see below). Whereas Hedgehog palmitoylation is not the first example of protein S-acylation within the secretory pathway [apolipoprotein B palmitoylation has been documented and shown to be required for assembly of various serum lipoprotein particles; see (66)], it is especially intriguing given the complex biogenesis and signaling activities of Hh proteins.

Although nonenzymatic protein S-acylation has been observed in vitro and may have a specialized role within mitochondria (67), the likelihood of its significance as a general mechanism is minimal given the activity of acyl-CoA binding proteins that reduce the concentration of free acyl-CoA species to levels inadequate for such reactions [(68); also see (64)]. In addition, the recent purification and cloning of two protein acyltransferases (PATs) from Saccharomyces cerevisiae that act on cytoplasmic substrates have demonstrated that the acylated components of certain pathways (e.g., the Ras pathway in yeast) have dedicated enzyme-based machinery that is utilized in these reactions (69, 70). Whereas derivatization, including palmitoylation, of N-terminal cysteinyl residues of Hh proteins can also be achieved in vitro [see (59)], autoacylation of Hh in vivo is, likewise, unlikely to happen to any appreciable extent. Recent genetic screens for new patterning mutations in *Drosophila* have supported the idea of enzyme-catalyzed acylation by identifying a single, novel gene that is required for production of an active Hedgehog signal in vivo (71–74). Molecular characterization of this gene revealed that it encodes a protein belonging to the MBOAT family of enzymes (membrane-bound O-acyltransferases), some of which are known to catalyze esterification reactions involving, principally, lipids and other relatively small molecules (75). This insight lead to the obvious proposal that the gene, variously termed sightless (sit), skinny hedgehog (ski), *central missing (cmn)* and *rasp*, is responsible for the previously identified N-terminal palmitoylation. Genetic knockdown of the activity of *ski* (as we shall refer to this gene) by RNAi causes a reduction in overall Hedgehog protein hydrophobicity, as compared to the fully modified species, and to a level that matches that of the unacylated version (72). Although this reaction, thus far, has not been reconstituted in vitro, these results suggest that this putative acyltransferase is responsible for catalyzing the acylation of Hh proteins in vivo. Vertebrate forms of *ski* have been identified, and their activities, doubtless, will be examined in other models of development and evaluated as to whether they are required in different signaling pathways. In tests of acyltransferase activity with model, non-Hedgehog substrates, the Ski protein has, thus far, proven inactive (R.K. Mann and P.A. Beachy, unpublished information).

The precise mechanism whereby a putative O-acyltransferase accomplishes an amide-linked lipidation is still undefined, but a strict requirement for a cysteine at the site of modification is indicative of, in the early stages at least, a conventional protein S-acylation. In contrast to protein N-myristoylation, enzyme-mediated protein S-acylation, as understood for cytoplasmic proteins, takes place posttranslationally, requires at a minimum a free sulfhydryl acceptor moiety (i.e., an accessible cysteine), and, generally, a prior membrane-anchoring of the target protein through a region of the protein that is typically near the site of the modification. These membrane anchors can take many forms and include transmembrane polypeptide helices, N-terminal myristoyl moieties, C-terminal polyisoprenoid adducts, clusters of hydrophobic residues, as well as spans of basic residues (see above-mentioned reviews). Prior cysteinyl-isoprenylation at the C-terminal CaaX motif of Ras proteins, for example, is required prior to S-acylation at adjacent cysteines [(76), also see (77)]. These membrane anchors are thought to recruit the acylation targets to cellular membranes where most PATs have been shown to localize [see (65)]. Depending on the sequence of processing events, a number of motifs within Hh proteins might satisfy a membrane anchor requirement and include the cholesterol adduct itself (assuming prior internal processing), the polybasic cluster adjacent to the site of palmitoylation (see Figure 7), or the hydrophobic motif (see above) at the extreme C terminus of the Hedgehog processing domain (if N-terminal processing precedes internal). The hydrophobic signal sequence is unlikely to provide the anchoring activity because this is lost early due to cotranslational processing. As mentioned above, both the efficiency and the fatty acyl selectivity of Hedgehog S-acylation depends, to some degree, on the presence of the cholesteryl adduct because expression of Hedgehog signaling proteins lacking the cholesterol transferase domain causes a reduced level of palmitoylation as well as a greater variety of fatty acyl groups to be incorporated. This result suggests that the cholesteryl moiety facilitates membrane association and proximity to the Ski protein and that it does so in an organelle or compartment where palmitoyl-CoA is the predominant fatty acyl donor.

Regardless of the sequence, cysteine-initiated polypeptides, like Hh proteins after signal sequence cleavage, feature a free primary amine that is in an ideal position to attack the thioester and produce the more stable amide (see Figure 7). This S-to-N shift, which proceeds via a cyclic intermediate, has not only been observed in vitro but serves as the basis of expressed protein ligation [see above and (34)].



Figure 7 Model of the spontaneous acyl rearrangement at the amino terminus of Hh proteins. Palmitoylation of the amino-terminal cysteine residue likely occurs by conventional side chain S-acylation followed by a spontaneous S-to-N shift that results in the stable amide linkage. A polybasic cluster near the amino terminus of Hh proteins (the mouse Sonic Hedgehog sequence is shown) may serve to facilitate membrane association required during biogenesis and for distribution and activity of the signal. See text for details.

Functional Consequences of Palmitoylation

Although the determinants of protein S-acylation are still poorly defined, some of the consequences of these dynamic modifications are well documented. S-acylation, either on its own (at multiple sites) or in combination with other hydrophobic motifs (posttranslational modifications, hydrophobic amino acid residues, or hydrophobic associated proteins) serves a major role in targeting modified cytosolic proteins to specific membranes [see (64, 65, 77, 78)]. N-myristoylation of many Src family kinases alone, for example, provides only partial and transient association with cellular membranes. The addition of a palmitoyl moiety to the polypeptides (or, in the case of Src itself, the presence of a polybasic cluster), however, confers a strong membrane affinity in general and one that directs them specifically to the plasma membrane. Interestingly, this multiplicity of membrane targeting motifs appears to be the rule rather than the exception among anchored proteins. It is now generally accepted that any single acylation or prenylation is unable to confer stable membrane localization [(77–

79) and references therein], indicating that an additive or cooperative effect between intrinsic anchoring motifs drives the membrane localization. Even cholesterol-modified Hh proteins appear to be subject to the rule of cooperativity. Reducing N-terminal acylation of *Drosophila* Hedgehog in vivo (by RNAi-mediated knockdown of Ski activity; see above) causes a reduction in plasma membrane association as indicated by a significant increase in release of Hedgehog protein into the culture medium (72). This result has implications not only for Hedgehog protein generation and packaging but also in the distribution and reception of the Hedgehog signal (see below).

LIPID MODIFICATION IN THE WNT SIGNALING PATHWAY

The results of computational motif searching (75) used to implicate *ski* as a member of the MBOAT acyltransferase family also revealed the Wnt pathway gene *porcupine (porc)* as a member of this family. As shown for *ski, porc* is required in Wnt-producing cells for generating the fully functional protein signal (80, 81). Early reports suggested that Porc is required for Wnt protein secretion, and others have demonstrated that the activity influences the N-linked glycosylation status of the protein (82, 83). Willert et al. (84) recently reported the first purification of biologically active Wnt proteins and found, by metabolic labeling and with mass spectrometric-based mapping analyses, that both vertebrate and *Drosophila* Wnt proteins are modified by palmitate at a conserved cysteine residue. Mutation of this cysteine causes a loss of palmitate both reduce the biological activity of the protein. It remains to be demonstrated that Porcupine is directly responsible for Wnt protein palmitoylation, but considering available evidence, the connection appears likely.

It is possible that lipid modification will make another interesting entry into the Wnt pathway, this one at the level of extracellular signaling interactions. Among the many secreted antagonists of Wnt proteins [see (19)], the Dickkopf proteins have been found to possess a structure closely related to that of colipases (85). These proteins act as essential cofactors in the duodenal digestion of nutritional triglycerides by pancreatic lipase and bile salts. Colipases bind lipases, confer enhanced hydrophobicity, and are thought to recruit the enzyme complex to lipid-water interfaces [see (86)]. Although Dickkopf proteins have not been found in *Drosophila* and recruitment of a lipase to a Wnt-Dickkopf complex has yet to be demonstrated in vertebrate systems, hydrolysis of a lipid adduct from the Wnt protein could be the mechanism of Dickkopf inhibition of Wnt signaling.

HEDGEHOG TISSUE DISTRIBUTION

In addition to features intrinsic to the Hh proteins, a number of factors within both signal-generating and receiving tissues have been shown to influence the distribution and activity of the protein signal. Although dual lipidation of Hedgehog promotes membrane affinity, accessory proteins have evolved to deal with this fully processed form of the Hedgehog signal and are essential for its deployment in developing tissues.

The Role of Processing and Cholesterol Modification in Hedgehog Tissue Distribution

Despite its importance in embryonic pattern formation and in facilitating Nterminal acylation, the cholesterol adduct on Hh proteins is, paradoxically, not required for signal transduction through its receptors. Although aberrant in distribution, Hedgehog variants lacking the cholesterol moiety are able to signal to responsive tissues both close to and far from the source (32, 87). Similarly, as mentioned, some derivatives of recombinant Hedgehog that are only N-terminally modified are as active as dually lipidated forms (59). What is the mechanism whereby this adduct influences the proper deployment of Hedgehog signals? Given the overwhelming hydrocarbon content of cholesterol, coupled with the loss of its lone free polar moiety, one would expect that peptide cholesterylation would restrict the complex to the normal residence of a cholesterol molecule, i.e., the various membranes of the cell. This expectation has been borne out in several studies wherein processed, cholesterol-modified forms of Hedgehog have been found to be predominantly membrane-associated, and those lacking the adduct more freely dissociate from cells after secretion (22, 23, 57). The cholesteryl adduct thus functions as a lipid anchor that restricts the spatial mobility of this secreted signal. But processed Hedgehog protein travels beyond the cells in which it is produced and signals over many cell diameters [see (1, (88-91)]. This signaling is direct, rather than through an intermediary signal (92, 93), suggesting that cellular mechanisms may exist for the handling and delivery of cholesterol-modified proteins.

The Contrasting Roles of Dispatched and Patched in Tissue Distribution of the Hh Signal

Specific cellular activities dedicated to the handling of cholesterol-modified Hh proteins indeed have been found and feature distinct activities required in signal-generating and in signal-receiving cells. One of these activities was identified in a genetic screen for new mutations affecting Hedgehog signaling in *Drosophila* embryos and imaginal discs. The function of this gene is required exclusively in Hh-producing cells for release of a fully functional signal (87). In *dispatched* mutants Hh protein production and processing appear to be uncompromised, but the signal generated within mutant cells accumulates and does not

travel to distant targets. Interestingly, the gene is not required for release of a truncated form of Hh (i.e., one lacking the cholesterol adduct), suggesting that one of its normal functions is to make the cholesterol-modified version mobile. Dispatched was recently shown to be required in the *Drosophila* embryo for generating apically-localized, Hedgehog-containing punctate structures that are likely involved in many of the embryonic patterning activities of Hedgehog (94). Again, it is the cholesterol-modified forms of Hedgehog that are subject to the activity of Dispatched, confirming its role in mobilizing the anchored form of the signal. The Dispatched protein is predicted to contain 12 transmembrane segments and is related throughout the transmembrane region to a group of proteins that include bacterial transmembrane transporters and Patched, a receptor for the Hh protein (see below). A 5-transmembrane subset of this homology region is conserved in certain proteins that sense and regulate sterol homeostasis and is known as a sterol sensing domain (SSD) (see below).

The murine and human genomes contain two *Dispatched* homologs, and genetic studies in mice support an essential role for the function of one of these genes (*mDispA*) in Hh signaling (95). Homozygous loss-of-function *mDispA* mutations are embryonic lethal, and mutant embryos display an array of pheno-types consistent with a complete loss of Hedgehog pathway patterning activity (95–97). The severity of this phenotype suggests that Hh signaling function can be assigned predominantly to *mDispA*; this is consistent with the ability of *mDispA* but not *mDispB* to rescue *Drosophila disp* mutants.

Some insight into the biochemical function of Dispatched has been derived from cultured cell-based models of Hedgehog protein signal generation (95). Whereas expression of full-length Hh proteins normally results in a strong membrane association, coexpression with *Dispatched*, or *mDispA*, but not with *mDispB* results in a significant increase in Hh-Np and Shh-Np protein levels in the culture medium, indicative of an activity of Disp proteins in release of lipid-modified Hh proteins. In another study, a soluble form of modified Shh-Np was found to be released from mammalian cultured cells and suggested on the basis of gel filtration studies to exist in an aggregate of \sim 5–6 molecules (98), but the question of whether Dispatched activity was involved in producing this soluble aggregate was not addressed.

Dispatched as well as Patched proteins display topological and sequence similarity to the RND (for resistance, nodulation, division) family of bacterial transmembrane transporters. These permeases utilize a proton electrochemical gradient to function as antiporters in extruding from bacterial cells a variety of substrates that include heavy metals, hydrophobic drugs, and endogenous compounds [see (99)]. The structure of one member of this transporter family, AcrB, has been solved to atomic resolution (100), and the monomer comprises 12 transmembrane spans that appear to have arisen through a tandem duplication of a 6 transmembrane unit (Figure 8*A*). The similarity of Disp and Ptc to these transporters extends throughout the transmembrane region and is particularly striking in TM4, which contains a Gly-X-X-X-Asp motif (Figure 8*B*) that is





С

AcrB TM helices

В

	TM4	TM10
CzcA	GIIIDGA	GVAVLN
MexB	GLLVDDA	GLSAKN
AcrB	GLLVDDA	GLSAKN
Disp	GIGADDV	GLAVDF
mDispA	GIGADDA	GLSVDF
mDispB	GVCVNYT	GLSVDL
Ptc	GLGVDHI	GMMLCF
mPtch1	GVGVDDV	GIGVEF
mPtch2	GIGVDDI	GIGVEF

Figure 8 Structure and sequence conservation between bacterial RND transporters, Dispatched and Patched proteins. (A) Predicted topology of Dispatched proteins. This 12-span polytopic transmembrane model is also representative of other members of a class that includes Patched and the bacterial RND family of transport proteins. The five adjacent transmembrane segments that have been found to confer a sterol sensing activity (e.g., in HMG-CoA reductase and SCAP) are delimited by a dashed box. The depicted topology and domain structure is from sequence-based predictions reported by Burke et al. (87) and Ma et al. (95). Relative loop domain lengths are approximate; loop drawings are stylized and do not reflect known or predicted folds. A red dashed line divides the protein into two homologous spans that are likely the result of gene duplication. (B) Conserved sequences within TM4 and TM10 domains of Dispatched and Patched proteins as well as several bacterial transporters, which include AcrB. Note that TM4 of *mDispB*, which fails to rescue Drosophila *disp* mutations, does not contain the conserved Asp (D) residue present in other family members. (C) Cross section of transmembrane helices from the crystal structure of AcrB (100); only one subunit of the trimeric structure is shown. It has been proposed that the opening between the central TM4 and TM10 domains (note drawn *circle*) serves as the pore for proton translocation.

critical for function of the transporter in biochemical reconstitution experiments (101–103). TM4 and TM10 are positioned inside a transmembrane helix bundle (see Figure 8*C*) with the TM4 Asp residue forming a salt bridge with a Lys at the corresponding position in TM10, and these helices are proposed as candidates for the proton-translocating pathway.

Mutations of charged residues at these positions in TM4 and TM10 of Disp (95) and Ptc (see below) disrupt biological function, reinforcing the suggestion from sequence conservation that Disp and Ptc are functionally related to RND transporters and may act by similar mechanisms. Although the proposed export of a lipoprotein would represent a novel activity for an RND transporter family member, there is precedent for this function in members of the structurally distinct ATP binding cassette (ABC) family of exporters [see (104)]. It is also intriguing that AcrB appears to function as a trimer, raising the possibility that multimeric action of Disp protein may produce an aggregated, soluble form of the lipid-modified Hh proteins, perhaps a micelle-like structure with interactions between lipids forming a lipophilic interior. It remains to be seen whether the Dispatched-dependent export of Hh proteins is powered by a proton motive force, like the activities of other RND transporters, or by some other electrochemical gradient.

With possible relevance to Dispatched function, it is interesting to note that Hh-Np from Drosophila embryos partitions into detergent-insoluble glycolipid enriched complexes, as has been shown for other raft-associated proteins (105). In addition, murine Shh-Np also partitions with such complexes (58), suggesting that raft association is a general property of the processed Hh signal. It is not known whether raft association is conferred by cholesterylation or palmitoylation alone, or whether both modifications are required. Irrespective of how raft association is specified, it has potential consequences both for signal packaging from signal-producing cells and for signal response in target cells. It is possible that a raft-based process, conceivably involving Dispatched (see above), may operate in signal packaging and secretion of raft-targeted Hh proteins for long-range signaling. With regard to rafts in target cells, dally-like (dlp) encodes a GPI-linked protein required for response in target cells (106–108) and presumably would be found in rafts, as is the case for other GPI-linked proteins. Perturbations of cholesterol homeostasis, whether genetic or pharmacologic, can also disrupt Hh signaling through components that are unlikely to be involved with the production or distribution of the Hh signal (109). We have thus found that such perturbations disrupt signal response in receiving cells at the level of the seven transmembrane component Smoothened (110).

The Ptc protein itself plays a role in sequestration of the Hh signal within tissues, which is opposite to the role of Disp and is distinct from the better-known role of Ptc in regulating signal transduction as a component of the Hh receptor mechanism. The role of Ptc in Hh signal transduction is to functionally antagonize the activity of Smoothened, a multi-pass transmembrane protein, which in the absence of Ptc function constitutively activates the Hh pathway (111–114).

Ptc acts catalytically in its suppression of Smo activity (115), and disruption of Ptc function by mutation of the Gly-X-X-Asp motif in TM4 suggests that this catalysis may occur via a transporter-like activity. Ptc suppression of Smo activity is cell autonomous, and this suppression is alleviated by the presence of the Hh signal, which interacts directly with the Ptc protein (116–118).

A second activity of Ptc, which is more directly relevant to the current discussion, is its role in sequestration of the Hh signal within tissues, a cell non-autonomous activity that restricts the spatial extent of Hh signaling (112). The transduction and tissue distribution activities can be genetically uncoupled, as demonstrated by mutant proteins that retain either function in isolation. A mutant form of Ptc thus has been described that retains the sequestration function but is unable to suppress the Hh pathway (112, 119-121). Conversely, a mutant Ptc protein that fails to bind Hh but retains the ability to suppress Smo can be produced by deletion of a portion of the extracytoplasmic loop between TM7 and TM8 (93, 115). The sequestration and tissue restriction of a ligand by its receptor also has been noted for the Torso pathway in Drosophila (122). The sequestering action of Ptc appears to require a processed Hh protein as indicated by the observation that the spatial extent of signaling is greater when a truncated form of the Hh protein is produced at higher levels in its normal location (32). Ptc and Disp thus are proteins with homology throughout their predicted 12 transmembrane spans, and both proteins are required for appropriate tissue distribution of the processed, and therefore cholesterol-modified, form of the Hh protein. However, Disp mobilizes Hh-Np from signal-generating cells, whereas Ptc expression in adjacent tissues causes a striking limitation of that mobility (Figure 9).

The specific requirement of both Ptc and Disp for appropriate tissue distribution of the cholesterol-modified form of the Hh protein is an observation made more striking by the fact that both proteins contain a SSD (Figure 8A), which is a subset of the 12 transmembrane domains conserved between Ptc, Disp, and the RND transporters. The mechanism of sterol sensing remains unclear, but the

Figure 9 Short- and long-range Hedgehog signaling. Hedgehog-producing cells are known to signal to both adjacent as well as distant tissues. The described activities that impinge on short- and long-distance signaling, especially those pertaining to generation and distribution of cholesterol-modified Hh proteins, are depicted schematically. The figure integrates both genetic and biochemical relationships. The depicted multimeric form of secreted Hh protein has been proposed by Zeng et al. (98), but a requirement for Dispatched in its biogenesis has not been established. Darker portions of membrane illustrations suggest potential lipid raft/microdomain involvement. Hip1 (not shown) is a membrane-associated protein that is found only in vertebrates and, like Patched, is both induced by Hedgehog and known to restrict the movement of Hh protein by sequestration (139). Other abbreviations are Disp, Dispatched; Dlp, Dally-like protein; Ptc, Patched; Smo, Smoothened; Ttv, Tout velu; and EXT, Exostosin. See text for details.



SSDs of HMG-CoA reductase and SCAP allow these proteins to regulate their associated activities in response to cellular sterol levels (123–128). The obvious suggestion that SSDs may aid in binding of the cholesteryl adduct of Hh proteins is belied by the observation that the affinity of Shh-Np binding to Ptc is not significantly different from that of Shh-N, which lacks the cholesteryl adduct (57). Because Ptc and Disp appear to display a more extensive similarity to RND transporters throughout the transmembrane region, it appears likely that the SSD represents a functional subunit, perhaps a conformationally dynamic subdomain, of this larger region. In bacteria, which lack cholesterol, this subunit (the SSD) would have no function on its own, but in HMG-CoA reductase and SCAP, the SSD has perhaps been geared to respond to sterols.

The Role of Tout velu in Hedgehog Tissue Distribution

In contrast to the requirement for Dispatched in signal-generating tissues, a second gene, from yet another genetic screen in *Drosophila*, also causes a *hedgehog*-like phenotype but is required for signal transmission (94, 129, 130). This mutation, termed *tout velu* (or *ttv*, French for hairy), prevents normal propagation of the Hh signal in target tissue and allows signaling only within cells that directly abut the Hh-producing tissue. The normally processed form of Hh is restricted in the *ttv* mutants, whereas overexpression of a truncated, unmodified form of Hh is not, suggesting that the *ttv* gene product is required specifically to enable the transmission of the cholesterol-modified form of Hedgehog to distant targets.

Molecular cloning of ttv (130) revealed that it is a homolog of vertebrate *EXT-1*, a gene associated with hereditary multiple exostoses. EXT-1 and EXT-2 (another family member) are type II transmembrane proteins that form a Golgi-localized hetero-oligomeric complex, which has heparan sulfate copolymerase activity (131-133), and cells lacking EXT-1 function are defective in heparan sulfate proteoglycan biosynthesis. Confirming the structural similarity, it has also been shown that glycosaminoglycan, including heparan sulfate, biosynthesis is disrupted in ttv mutant animals (134–136). More recently, a requirement for Ttv activity in normal biosynthesis of the Dally and Dlp proteins has been demonstrated, and Dally and Dlp furthermore have been shown to function in mediating extracellular transmission of the Hh signal to distant targets (108). The role of Ttv in Hh signal distribution thus seems likely to be mediated through its action in biosynthesis of the Dally and Dlp proteins. Current information does not distinguish between direct function of the GAG chains elaborated by Ttv in Hh signal transmission or, instead, a requirement for GAG chain addition for proper surface presentation of the Dlp and Dally proteins. Interestingly, the Dlp protein appears to play roles both in autonomous cellular response to the Hh signal and in transmission of the Hh signal to distant sites (106–108).

PERSPECTIVE ON THE FUNCTION OF CHOLESTEROL MODIFICATION

Hh proteins are deployed in graded concentrations that are dependent not only on proximity to the source but also on influences from producing and receiving tissues. Although the precise mode of transmission through tissues is still unknown, it is likely that Hh proteins retain both of their relatively stable lipid adducts while en route to target tissues. Lipid modification would be expected to affect tissue distribution of Hh protein signals. Analysis of these effects with the use of truncated proteins, which lack cholesterol and therefore might be expected to travel more freely through tissues, is complicated by the accompanying reduction of amino-terminal acylation, which in turn reduces signaling potency (see above). However, when this reduction in signaling potency is compensated for by a higher-level expression of the truncated protein, it is evident that, in comparison to similarly expressed modified protein, Hedgehog protein unanchored by cholesterol is more mobile and acts over a greater range than the modified protein (32). Thus it seems clear that in addition to facilitating amino-terminal acylation and thus indirectly stimulating activity, the primary role of the cholesteryl adduct is to direct the mature signal to a set of cellular components that operate in concert to produce a precisely regulated distribution of Hh signals in responsive tissues. Paramount among a group of unresolved issues are the detailed roles of these lipid modifications in the intra- and extracellular packaging and handling of modified Hh protein, the mechanism by which these modifications modulate signal potency, and the role of such modifications in other extracellular signaling pathways, such as the Wnt pathway.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Daniel Leahy for providing images for Figure 4, Yong Ma for assistance with Figure 8, and Maurine Linder for critical review of the manuscript. Philip Beachy is an investigator of the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.

The Annual Review of Biochemistry is online at http://biochem.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Ingham PW, McMahon AP. 2001. Genes Dev. 15:3059–87
- Muenke M, Beachy PA. 2001. In The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, ed. CR Scriver, AL Beaudet, WS Sly, D Valle, B Childs, et al., pp. 6203–30. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Wodarz A, Nusse R. 1998. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 14:59–88
- 4. Miller JR. 2002. Genome Biol. 3:1-15
- Nusse R. 2003. The Wnt gene homepage. www.stanford.edu/~rnusse/wntwindow. html
- 6. Batlle E, Henderson JT, Beghtel H, van den

Born MM, Sancho E, et al. 2002. *Cell* 111: 251–63

- van de Wetering M, Sancho E, Verweij C, de Lau W, Oving I, et al. 2002. *Cell* 111:241–50
- Machold R, Hayashi S, Rutlin M, Muzumdar MD, Nery S, et al. 2003. *Neuron* 39:937–50
- Pinto D, Gregorieff A, Begthel H, Clevers H. 2003. Genes Dev. 17:1709–13
- Reya T, Duncan AW, Ailles L, Domen J, Scherer DC, et al. 2003. *Nature* 423: 409–14
- Watkins DN, Berman DM, Burkholder SG, Wang BL, Beachy PA, Baylin SB. 2003. *Nature* 422:313–17
- Berman DM, Karhadkar SS, Maitra A, de Oca RM, Gerstenblith MR, et al. 2003. *Nature* 425:846–51
- Thayer SP, Di Magliano MP, Heiser PW, Nielsen CM, Roberts DJ, et al. 2003. *Nature* 425:851–56
- Taipale J, Beachy PA. 2001. Nature 411: 349–54
- Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL. 2001. *Nature* 414:105–11
- Giles RH, van Es JH, Clevers H. 2003. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1653:1–24
- Ornitz DM, Itoh N. 2001. Genome Biol. 2:REVIEWS3005. pp. 1–12; PMID: 11276432
- Annes JP, Munger JS, Rifkin DB. 2003.
 J. Cell Sci. 116:217–24
- Kawano Y, Kypta R. 2003. J. Cell Sci. 116:2627–34
- 20. Smith WC. 1999. Trends Genet. 15:3-5
- 21. Mann RK, Beachy PA. 2000. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1529:188–202
- Lee JJ, Ekker SC, von Kessler DP, Porter JA, Sun BI, Beachy PA. 1994. Science 266:1528–37
- Porter JA, von Kessler DP, Ekker SC, Young KE, Lee JJ, et al. 1995. *Nature* 374:363–66
- Porter JA, Young KE, Beachy PA. 1996. Science 274:255–59
- 25. Ekker SC, Ungar AR, Greenstein P, von

Kessler DP, Porter JA, et al. 1995. *Curr. Biol.* 5:944–55

- Fan CM, Porter JA, Chiang C, Chang DT, Beachy PA, Tessier-Lavigne M. 1995. Cell 81:457–65
- Hynes M, Porter JA, Chiang C, Chang DT, Tessier-Lavigne M, et al. 1995. *Neuron* 1:35–44
- Lai C-J, Ekker SC, Beachy PA, Moon RT. 1995. *Development* 121:2349–60
- López-Martínez A, Chang DT, Chiang C, Porter JA, Ros MA, et al. 1995. *Curr. Biol.* 5:791–96
- Marti E, Bumcrot DA, Takada R, McMahon AP. 1995. *Nature* 375:322–25
- Roelink H, Porter JA, Chiang C, Tanabe Y, Chang DT, et al. 1995. *Cell* 81: 445–55
- Porter JA, Ekker SC, Park WJ, von Kessler DP, Young KE, et al. 1996. *Cell* 86:21–34
- Dawson PE, Muir TW, Clark-Lewis I, Kent SB. 1994. Science 266:776–79
- Muir TW. 2003. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 72: 249–89
- Roessler E, Belloni E, Gaudenz K, Jay P, Berta P, et al. 1996. *Nat. Genet.* 14: 357–60
- Roessler E, Belloni E, Gaudenz K, Vargas F, Scherer SW, et al. 1997. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 6:1847–53
- Cooper MK, Porter JA, Young KE, Beachy PA. 1998. Science 280:1603–7
- Cenedella RJ. 2001. Ophthalmic Res. 33: 210–16
- Beachy PA, Cooper MK, Young KE, von Kessler DP, Park WJ, et al. 1997. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 62:191–204
- 40. Perler FB. 1998. Nat. Struct. Biol. 5: 249–52
- Hochstrasser M. 1996. Annu. Rev. Genet. 30:405–39
- 42. Chu CT, Pizzo SV. 1994. Lab. Investig. 71:792–812
- 43. van Poelje PD, Snell EE. 1990. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 59:29–59
- 44. Brannigan JA, Dodson G, Duggleby HJ,

Moody PC, Smith JL, et al. 1995. *Nature* 378:416–19

- Guan C, Cui T, Rao V, Liao W, Benner J, et al. 1996. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 1732–37
- Perler FB. 2002. Nucleic Acids Res. 30: 383–84
- Gogarten JP, Senejani AG, Zhaxybayeva O, Olendzenski L, Hilario E. 2002. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 56:263–87
- Xu MQ, Perler FB. 1996. *EMBO J.* 15: 5146–53
- C. elegans Sequencing Consort. 1998. Science 282:2012–18
- 50. Burglin TR. 1996. Curr. Biol. 6:1047-50
- Hall TM, Porter JA, Young KE, Koonin EV, Beachy PA, Leahy DJ. 1997. *Cell* 91:85–97
- Aspock G, Kagoshima H, Niklaus G, Burglin TR. 1999. Genome Res. 9: 909-23
- Dalgaard JZ, Moser MJ, Hughey R, Mian IS. 1997. J. Comput. Biol. 4: 193–214
- 54. Pietrokovski S, Henikoff S. 1997. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 254:689–95
- 55. Duan XQ, Gimble FS, Quiocho FA. 1997. *Cell* 89:555–64
- Bennett MJ, Schlunegger MP, Eisenberg D. 1995. Protein Sci. 4:2455–68
- Pepinsky RB, Zeng CH, Wen DY, Rayhorn P, Baker DP, et al. 1998. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273:14037–45
- Taipale J, Chen JK, Cooper MK, Wang B, Mann RK, et al. 2000. *Nature* 406: 1005–9
- Taylor FR, Wen DY, Garber EA, Carmillo AN, Baker DP, et al. 2001. *Biochemistry* 40:4359–71
- Williams KP, Rayhorn P, Chi-Rosso G, Garber EA, Strauch KL, et al. 1999. J. Cell Sci. 112(Part 23):4405–14
- Lee JD, Kraus P, Gaiano N, Nery S, Kohtz J, et al. 2001. *Dev. Biol.* 233: 122–36
- Kohtz JD, Lee HY, Gaiano N, Segal J, Ng E, et al. 2001. *Development* 128: 2351–63

- Lewis PM, Dunn MP, McMahon JA, Logan M, Martin JF, et al. 2001. *Cell* 105:599–612
- Bijlmakers MJ, Marsh M. 2003. Trends Cell Biol. 13:32–42
- Linder ME, Deschenes RJ. 2003. Biochemistry 42:4311–20
- Vilas GL, Berthiaume LG. 2004. Biochem. J. 377(Part 1):121–30
- Corvi MM, Soltys CL, Berthiaume LG. 2001. J. Biol. Chem. 276:45704–12
- Dunphy JT, Schroeder H, Leventis R, Greentree WK, Knudsen JK, et al. 2000. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1485:185–98
- Lobo S, Greentree WK, Linder ME, Deschenes RJ. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 41268–73
- Roth AF, Feng Y, Chen L, Davis NG. 2002. J. Cell Biol. 159:23–28
- Lee JD, Treisman JE. 2001. Curr. Biol. 11:1147–52
- Chamoun Z, Mann RK, Nellen D, von Kessler DP, Bellotto M, et al. 2001. Science 293:2080–84
- Amanai K, Jiang J. 2001. Development 128:5119–27
- Micchelli CA, The I, Selva E, Mogila V, Perrimon N. 2002. *Development* 129: 843–51
- Hofmann K. 2000. Trends Biochem. Sci. 25:111–12
- Hancock JF, Magee AI, Childs JE, Marshall CJ. 1989. Cell 57:1167–77
- Resh MD. 1999. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1451:1–16
- Berthiaume LG. 2002. Science STKE152:PE41. PMID:12359913
- Shahinian S, Silvius JR. 1995. Biochemistry 34:3813–22
- van den Heuvel M, Harryman-Samos C, Klingensmith J, Perrimon N, Nusse R. 1993. EMBO J. 12:5293–302
- Kadowaki T, Wilder E, Klingensmith J, Zachary K, Perrimon N. 1996. *Genes Dev.* 10:3116–28
- Tanaka K, Okabayashi K, Asashima M, Perrimon N, Kadowaki T. 2000. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 267:4300–11

- Tanaka K, Kitagawa Y, Kadowaki T. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:12816–23
- Willert K, Brown JD, Danenberg E, Duncan AW, Weissman IL, et al. 2003. *Nature* 423:448–52
- Aravind L, Koonin EV. 1998. Curr. Biol. 8:R477–78
- van Tilbeurgh H, Bezzine S, Cambillau C, Verger R, Carriere F. 1999. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1441:173–84
- Burke R, Nellen D, Bellotto M, Hafen E, Senti KA, et al. 1999. *Cell* 99:803–15
- Johnson RL, Tabin C. 1995. Cell 81: 313–16
- Hammerschmidt M, Brook A, McMahon AP. 1997. *Trends Genet*. 13:14–21
- 90. Ingham PW. 1998. EMBO J. 17:3505-11
- Goetz JA, Suber LM, Zeng X, Robbins DJ. 2002. *BioEssays* 24:157–65
- Wang B, Fallon JF, Beachy PA. 2000. Cell 100:423–34
- Briscoe J, Chen Y, Jessell TM, Struhl G. 2001. Mol. Cell 7:1279–91
- 94. Gallet A, Rodriguez R, Ruel L, Therond PP. 2003. *Dev. Cell* 4:191–204
- 95. Ma Y, Erkner A, Gong R, Yao S, Taipale J, et al. 2002. *Cell* 111:63–75
- Caspary T, Garcia-Garcia MJ, Huangfu D, Eggenschwiler JT, Wyler MR, et al. 2002. *Curr. Biol.* 12:1628–32
- Kawakami T, Kawcak T, Li YJ, Zhang W, Hu Y, Chuang PT. 2002. Development 129:5753–65
- Zeng X, Goetz JA, Suber LM, Scott WJ Jr, Schreiner CM, Robbins DJ. 2001. *Nature* 411:716–20
- McKeegan KS, Borges-Walmsley MI, Walmsley AR. 2003. Trends Microbiol. 11:21–29
- Murakami S, Nakashima R, Yamashita E, Yamaguchi A. 2002. *Nature* 419: 587–93
- Goldberg M, Pribyl T, Juhnke S, Nies DH. 1999. J. Biol. Chem. 274:26065–70
- Guan L, Nakae T. 2001. J. Bacteriol. 183: 1734–39
- 103. Murakami S, Yamaguchi A. 2003. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 13:443–52

- 104. Yakushi T, Masuda K, Narita S, Matsuyama S, Tokuda H. 2000. Nat. Cell Biol. 2:212–18
- 105. Rietveld A, Neutz S, Simons K, Eaton S. 1999. J. Biol. Chem. 274:12049–54
- 106. Lum L, Yao S, Mozer B, Rovescalli A, Von Kessler D, Nirenberg M, Beachy PA. 2003. *Science* 299:2039–45
- 107. Desbordes SC, Sanson B. 2003. Development 130:6245–55
- 108. Han C, Belenkaya TY, Wang B, Lin X. 2004. Development 131:601–11
- Cooper MK, Wassif CA, Krakowiak PA, Taipale J, Gong R, et al. 2003. Nat. Genet. 33:508–13
- Chen JK, Taipale J, Cooper MK, Beachy PA. 2002. *Genes Dev.* 16:2743–48
- van den Heuvel M, Ingham PW. 1996. Nature 382:547–51
- 112. Chen Y, Struhl G. 1996. Cell 87:553-63
- Chen Y, Struhl G. 1998. Development 125: 4943–48
- Murone M, Rosenthal A, de Sauvage FJ. 1999. Curr. Biol. 9:76–84
- Taipale J, Cooper MK, Maiti T, Beachy PA. 2002. *Nature* 418:892–97
- Marigo V, Davey RA, Zuo Y, Cunningham JM, Tabin CJ. 1996. *Nature* 384: 176–79
- 117. Stone DM, Hynes M, Armanini M, Swanson TA, Gu QLJR, et al. 1996. *Nature* 384:129–34
- 118. Fuse N, Maiti T, Wang B, Porter JA, Hall TM, et al. 1999. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96:10992–99
- Martin V, Carrillo G, Torroja C, Guerrero I. 2001. Curr. Biol. 11:601–7
- 120. Strutt H, Thomas C, Nakano Y, Stark D, Neave B, et al. 2001. *Curr. Biol.* 11: 608–13
- Johnson RL, Zhou L, Bailey EC. 2002. Dev. Biol. 242:224–35
- 122. Casanova J, Struhl G. 1993. Nature 362: 152–55
- 123. Gil G, Faust JR, Chin DJ, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. 1985. *Cell* 41:249–58
- 124. Hua X, Nohturfft A, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. 1996. *Cell* 87:415–26

- Nohturfft A, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. 1998. J. Biol. Chem. 273:17243–50
- 126. Brown MS, Goldstein JL. 1999. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:11041-48
- 127. Edwards PA, Tabor D, Kast HR, Venkateswaran A. 2000. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1529:103–13
- 128. Kuwabara PE, Labouesse M. 2002. Trends Genet. 18:193–201
- 129. Perrimon N. 1996. Cell 86:513-16
- Bellaiche Y, The I, Perrimon N. 1998. Nature 394:85–88
- 131. Lind T, Tufaro F, McCormick C, Lindahl U, Lidholt K. 1998. J. Biol. Chem. 273:26265–68
- McCormick C, Leduc Y, Martindale D, Mattison K, Esford LE, et al. 1998. *Nat. Genet.* 19:158–61

- McCormick C, Duncan G, Goutsos KT, Tufaro F. 2000. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:668–73
- Toyoda H, Kinoshita-Toyoda A, Selleck SB. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275:2269–75
- Toyoda H, Kinoshita-Toyoda A, Fox B, Selleck SB. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 21856–61
- The I, Bellaiche Y, Perrimon N. 1999. Mol. Cell 4:633–39
- Thompson JD, Gibson TJ, Plewniak F, Jeanmougin F, Higgins DG. 1997. Nucleic Acids Res. 25:4876–82
- Hall TM, Porter JA, Beachy PA, Leahy DJ. 1995. *Nature* 378:212–16
- Chuang PT, McMahon AP. 1999. Nature 397:617–21



Annual Review of Biochemistry Volume 73, 2004

CONTENTS

THE EXCITEMENT OF DISCOVERY, Alexander Rich	1
MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF MAMMALIAN DNA REPAIR AND THE DNA DAMAGE CHECKPOINTS, Aziz Sancar, Laura A. Lindsey-Boltz, Keziban Ünsal-Kaçmaz, Stuart Linn	39
CYTOCHROME C -MEDIATED APOPTOSIS, Xuejun Jiang, Xiaodong Wang	87
NUCLEAR MAGNETIC RESONANCE SPECTROSCOPY OF HIGH- MOLECULAR-WEIGHT PROTEINS, Vitali Tugarinov, Peter M. Hwang, Lewis E. Kay	107
INCORPORATION OF NONNATURAL AMINO ACIDS INTO PROTEINS, Tamara L. Hendrickson, Valérie de Crécy-Lagard, Paul Schimmel	147
REGULATION OF TELOMERASE BY TELOMERIC PROTEINS, Agata Smogorzewska, Titia de Lange	177
CRAWLING TOWARD A UNIFIED MODEL OF CELL MOBILITY: Spatial and Temporal Regulation of Actin Dynamics, <i>Susanne M.</i> <i>Rafelski, Julie A. Theriot</i>	209
ATP-BINDING CASSETTE TRANSPORTERS IN BACTERIA, Amy L. Davidson, Jue Chen	241
STRUCTURAL BASIS OF ION PUMPING BY CA-ATPASE OF THE SARCOPLASMIC RETICULUM, <i>Chikashi Toyoshima, Giuseppe Inesi</i> DNA POLYMERASE , THE MITOCHONDRIAL REPLICASE, <i>Laurie</i>	269
S. Kaguni	293
Ishii, Nobuyuki Fukushima, Xiaoqin Ye, Jerold Chun	321
PROTEIN MODIFICATION BY SUMO, Erica S. Johnson	355
PYRIDOXAL PHOSPHATE ENZYMES: Mechanistic, Structural, and Evolutionary Considerations, Andrew C. Eliot, Jack F. Kirsch	383
THE SIR2 FAMILY OF PROTEIN DEACETYLASES, Gil Blander, Leonard Guarente	417
INOSITOL 1,4,5-TRISPHOSPHATE RECEPTORS AS SIGNAL INTEGRATORS, Randen L. Patterson, Darren Boehning, Solomon H. Snyder	437
STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF TOLC: The Bacterial Exit Duct for Proteins and Drugs, Vassilis Koronakis, Jeyanthy Eswaran, Colin Hughes	467
ROLE OF GLYCOSYLATION IN DEVELOPMENT, Robert S. Haltiwanger, John B. Lowe	491

STRUCTURAL INSIGHTS INTO THE SIGNAL RECOGNITION PARTICLE, Jennifer A. Doudna, Robert T. Batey	539
PALMITOYLATION OF INTRACELLULAR SIGNALING PROTEINS: Regulation and Function, <i>Jessica E. Smotrys, Maurine E.</i> <i>Linder</i>	559
FLAP ENDONUCLEASE 1: A Central Component of DNA Metabolism, Yuan Liu, Hui-I Kao, Robert A. Bambara	589
EMERGING PRINCIPLES OF CONFORMATION-BASED PRION INHERITANCE, Peter Chien, Jonathan S. Weissman, Angela H. DePace	617
THE MOLECULAR MECHANICS OF EUKARYOTIC TRANSLATION, <i>Lee D. Kapp, Jon R. Lorsch</i>	657
MECHANICAL PROCESSES IN BIOCHEMISTRY, Carlos Bustamante, Yann R. Chemla, Nancy R. Forde, David Izhaky	705
INTERMEDIATE FILAMENTS: Molecular Structure, Assembly Mechanism, and Integration Into Functionally Distinct Intracellular Scaffolds, <i>Harald Herrmann, Ueli Aebi</i>	749
DIRECTED EVOLUTION OF NUCLEIC ACID ENZYMES, Gerald F. Joyce	791
USING PROTEIN FOLDING RATES TO TEST PROTEIN FOLDING THEORIES, Blake Gillespie, Kevin W. Plaxco	837
EUKARYOTIC mRNA DECAPPING, Jeff Coller, Roy Parker	861
NOVEL LIPID MODIFICATIONS OF SECRETED PROTEIN SIGNALS, <i>Randall K. Mann, Philip A. Beachy</i>	891
RETURN OF THE GDI: The GoLoco Motif in Cell Division, <i>Francis S.</i> Willard, Randall J. Kimple, David P. Siderovski	925
OPIOID RECEPTORS, Maria Waldhoer, Selena E. Bartlett, Jennifer L. Whistler	953
STRUCTURAL ASPECTS OF LIGAND BINDING TO AND ELECTRON TRANSFER IN BACTERIAL AND FUNGAL P450S, Olena Pylypenko, Ilme Schlichting	991
ROLES OF N-LINKED GLYCANS IN THE ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM, <i>Ari Helenius, Markus Aebi</i>	1019
ANALYZING CELLULAR BIOCHEMISTRY IN TERMS OF MOLECULAR NETWORKS, Yu Xia, Haiyuan Yu, Ronald Jansen, Michael Seringhaus, Sarah Baxter, Dov Greenbaum, Hongyu Zhao,	
Mark Gerstein	1051